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 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01173 
CASE NAME: HUGHES VS. REILLY 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ENFORCE SETTLEMENT FILED BY SHERRIE D 
REILLY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

  

  
 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00078 
CASE NAME: BIGORNIA VS. BAYVIEW LOAN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR ATTNY FEES AND COSTS FILED BY BAYVIEW 
LOAN SERVICING, LLC, 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Granted for the reasons set forth in the moving papers. No opposition.  

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02253 
CASE NAME: LIBBY VS. HESS CONCRETE 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO COMPLAINT of LIBBY FILED BY CMC TRAFFIC 
CONTROL SPECIALIST, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The demurring party was dismissed without prejudice on December 8, 2017. Therefore, the 
demurrer is overruled as moot. This ruling is without prejudice to the demurrer being brought 
again if the claims against demurring party are revived in the future. 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01128 
CASE NAME: SCOTT VS. FORD 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended COMPLAINT of SCOTT FILED BY 
FORD MOTOR 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 
           Defendant Ford Motor Company’s demurrer to Second Amended Complaint is 
sustained with leave to amend.  
 
           Defendant demurs only to the 7th Cause of Action for Fraud by Omission. The demurrer 
is sustained on the ground Plaintiff failed to allege facts sufficient to state a cause of action as 
the claim is time-barred and Plaintiff failed to allege all of the elements of the cause of action. 
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Background Facts and Allegations of the 7th C/A (Fraud by Omission) 

 
   Plaintiff Risa Scott alleges she purchased a new 2014 Ford Focus, on May 27, 2014, 
which was manufactured and distributed by Defendant, Ford Motor Company.  Plaintiff 
purchased the vehicle as manufactured with Defendant’s dual clutch transmission, also known 
as “DPS6” or “Power Shift 6 Transmission.”  During the warranty period, Plaintiff’s car 
developed defects concerning the transmission, causing the vehicle to jerk, shake, excessively 
and shudder at slow speeds, which affected the safety and drivability of the car. 
 
 Plaintiff alleges Ford knew about the transmission defects as early as 2012, through pre-
production and post-production testing data, early consumer complaints, testing conducted by 
Ford in response to complaints, as well as warranty repair and part replacement data. Yet, 
Defendant committed fraud by allowing the vehicle to be sold to Plaintiff without disclosing that 
the vehicle and its transmission was defective and susceptible to sudden and premature failure.  
Had Plaintiff known that the vehicle suffered from the transmission defects, she would not have 
purchased the vehicle. 
 

Demurrer to (7th) Fraud by Omission Cause of Action 
 

 Defendant demurs to the 7th C/A for Fraud by Omission on the several grounds.  First, 
the claim is barred by the 3-year statute of limitations.  Secondly, Plaintiff failed to state facts 
sufficient to constitute a cause of action.  Finally, Plaintiff’s cause of action is barred by the 
economic loss rule. 
 
 In testing the legal sufficiency of the complaint for purposes of a demurrer, the court 
gives the complaint a reasonable interpretation, admitting all material facts properly pleaded. 
“The court does not, however, assume the truth of contentions, deductions or conclusions of 
law.”  (Aubry v. Tri-City Hospital Dist. (1992) 2 Cal.4th 962, 966-967.)    
 
              

A. Statute of Limitations 
 

 As to the 7th Cause of Action for Fraud by Omission, Defendant contends the claim is 
barred by the three-year statute of limitations set forth at CCP § 338(d).  “Where the complaint 
discloses on its face that the statute of limitations has run on the causes of action stated in the 
complaint, it fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action.” (ABF Capital Corp. v. 
Berglass (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 825, 833.) Here, the SAC alleges Plaintiff purchased the 
vehicle on May 27, 2014. (SAC, ¶16.)   Plaintiff alleges the defects were known by Ford, yet 
Ford allowed the vehicle to be sold to Plaintiff without disclosure.  (SAC § 57.)  Based on the 
May 27, 2014 sale date, Plaintiff should have filed her fraud action no later than May 27, 2017.  
Plaintiff did not file her complaint until June 14, 2017.  On the face of the complaint, the claim is 
time-barred.   
 
 Plaintiff alleges the statute of limitations on the claim was tolled by the delayed discovery 
rule, fraudulent concealment rule, and equitable estoppel rule.  (SAC ¶¶ 13-15.)  Plaintiff alleges 
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she did not learn of Defendant’s acts of concealment and failure to disclose the material facts 
until shortly before filing the original complaint.  (SAC § 13.)   
   
 “Generally, a cause of action accrues when, under the substantive law, the wrongful act 
is done and liability arises, i.e., when a suit may be brought.”  (Menefee v. Ostawari (1991) 228 
Cal.App.3d 239, 245.) “An exception to the general rule for defining the accrual of a cause of 
action--indeed, the ‘most important’ one--is the discovery rule…   It postpones accrual of a 
cause of action until the plaintiff discovers, or has reason to discover, the cause of action until, 
that is, he at least suspects, or has reason to suspect, a factual basis for its elements.” (Norgart 
v. Upjohn Co. (1999) 21 Cal.4th 383, 397.)    
 
 Here, the cause of action accrued on the date the vehicle was sold to Plaintiff without 
disclosure of the alleged transmission defects, May 27, 2014.   Plaintiff alleges she did not learn 
of the material facts regarding the failure to disclose until shortly before this action was filed. 
Plaintiff has not alleged the time of the discovery, nor the manner of discovery. Nor does Plaintiff 
allege any facts showing the inability to make the discovery, despite reasonable efforts.    
 
 “When a plaintiff relies on a theory of fraudulent concealment, delayed accrual, equitable 
tolling, or estoppel to save a cause of action that otherwise appears on its face to be time-
barred, he or she must specifically plead facts which, if proved, would support the theory.”  (Mills 
v. Forestex Co. (2003) 108 Cal.App.4th 625, 641.)  “[A] plaintiff invoking “the discovery rule must 
specifically plead facts to show (1) the time and manner of discovery and (2) the inability to have 
made earlier discovery despite reasonable diligence.” (E-Fab, Inc. v. Accountants, Inc. Services 
(2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 1308, 1324.)  In assessing the sufficiency of the allegations of delayed 
discovery, the court places the burden on the plaintiff to ‘show diligence’; ‘conclusory allegations 
will not withstand demurrer.’ [Citation.]”  (Fox v. Ethicon Endo-Surgery, Inc. (2005) 35 Cal.4th 
797, 808.)  Plaintiff must allege facts that show she was not at fault for failing to discover the 
cause of action or had no actual or presumptive knowledge of facts sufficient to put her on 
inquiry.  (Prudential Home Mortgage Co. v. Superior Court (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 1236, 1247.)  
 
 As to the doctrine of fraudulent concealment, the statute of limitations is tolled where a 
defendant, through deceptive conduct, has caused a claim to grow stale.  (Aryeh v. Canon 
Business Solutions, Inc. (2013) 55 Cal.4th 1185, 1192.) Plaintiff has not alleged any facts 
showing deceptive conduct by Ford to prevent Plaintiff from suspecting any wrongdoing.  
Similarly, Plaintiff failed to allege any facts to demonstrate Ford should be equitably estopped 
from asserting the statute of limitations.   
   
 

1.  Application of American Pipe Rule 
 

 Plaintiff alleges that under the tolling rule articulated in American Pipe & Constr. Co. v. 
Utah (1974) 414 U.S. 538, the statute of limitations on the Fraud by Omission is tolled during the 
time class is awaiting certification in Vargas v. Ford Motor Company (C.D. Can No. 2:12-cv-
08388) and Klipfel v. Ford Motor Company (C.D. Cal. NO. 2:15-cv-02140).  Vargas, a class 
action, was filed on September 28, 2012 and Klipfel was filed on May 20, 2015.  The class has 
not be certified in Vargas. 
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 In American Pipe, the U.S. Supreme Court held that where the class action had been 
denied certification, the commencement of the original class suit tolled the running of the statute 
for all purported members of the class who made timely motions to intervene after the court has 
found the suit inappropriate for class action status. (Am. Pipe & Constr. Co. v. Utah (1974) 414 
U.S. 538, 552.)   
 
 In Crown v. Parker (1983) 462 U.S. 345, the Supreme Court case interpreting American 
Pipe stated, “We conclude, as did the Court in American Pipe, that ‘the commencement of a 
class action suspends the applicable statute of limitations as to all asserted members of the 
class who would have been parties had the suit been permitted to continue as a class action." 
[Emphasis added.]  414 U.S., at 554. Once the statute of limitations has been tolled, it remains 
tolled for all members of the putative class until class certification is denied. At that point, class 
members may choose to file their own suits or to intervene as plaintiffs in the pending action.” 
(Crown v. Parker (1983) 462 U.S. 345, 353-354.)   
 
 In the case at bar, Plaintiff will not be a party to the suit if it is permitted to continue as a 
class.  It is not clear to the court why American Pipe is should be extended to this situation 
where Plaintiff opted out before the class certification.  The California Supreme Court explained 
that underlying the tolling rule of American Pipe were two major policy considerations-- 
protecting the efficiency and economy of litigation and protecting the defendant from unfair 
claims. (Jolly v. Eli Lilly & Co. (1988) 44 Cal.3d 1103, 1122.)  Here, Plaintiff failed to explain how 
these policy considerations are advanced by allowing the Plaintiff to enjoy the tolling benefit of a 
class action in which she chose not to join, and to file an otherwise stale cause of action.  
  
  The court notes that in Becker v. McMillin Constr. Co. (1991) 226 Cal.App.3d 1493, 
1502, the court found tolling even though the plaintiff filed his individual claim for construction 
defect after his neighbor filed a suit on behalf of the class.  Less than a month after the plaintiff’s 
suit was filed, the class certification was denied.  The court warned that the ruling in Becker 
should not be broadly construed and emphasized this was an unusual class action effort. 
(Becker v. McMillin Constr. Co. (1991) 226 Cal.App.3d 1493, 1502.     
 
 

2. Class Actions Suits Fail to Defendant Notice of Fraud Claim 
 

  Additionally, Plaintiff argue the fraudulent omission claim was equitably tolled because 
Vargas provided sufficient notice to Defendant of Plaintiff’s claims.  Plaintiff claims the Vargas 
allegations are nearly identical, factually and legally to the ones Plaintiff makes here.  However, 
neither Vargas nor Klipfel allege a common law fraud by omission claim.  Under their claim for 
violation of the Consumer Legal Remedies Act, the plaintiffs in Vargas alleged that Ford 
engaged in failed to disclose and conceal the defective nature of the transmission. (Vargas 
SAC, ¶¶ 128-143.)   Under the Act, the conduct that constituted unfair and deceptive acts. 
       
 Although the plaintiffs in Vargas allege Ford failed to disclose the transmission defects, 
these allegations were made in the context on the statutory claims.  It cannot be said, as a 
matter of law, the Vargas class action suit gave Ford sufficient notice of Plaintiff’s fraud by 
omission claim. Common law fraud has different requirements as discussed below.          
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B. Failure to State a Cause of Action 

 
  To plead fraud by omission Plaintiff must show (1) the concealment or suppression of 
material fact, (2) a duty to disclose the fact to the plaintiff, (3) intentional concealment with intent 
to defraud, (4) justifiable reliance; the plaintiff must have been unaware of the fact and would not 
have acted as he did if he had known of the concealed or suppressed fact, and (5) resulting 
damages. (Jones v. ConocoPhillips Co. (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 1187, 1198 [internal quotations 
omitted]; Mui Ho v. Toyota Motor Corp. (N.D.Cal. 2013) 931 F.Supp.2d 987, 999.)      
 
 A fraud by omission or fraud by concealment claim "can succeed without the same level 
of specificity required by a normal fraud claim." (Baggett v. Hewlett-Packard Co., 582 F. Supp. 
2d 1261, 1267 (C.D. Cal. 2007).  "[A] plaintiff cannot plead either the specific time of the 
omission or the place, as he is not alleging an act, but a failure to act…  [A]n omission cannot be 
described in terms of time, place, and contents of the misrepresentation or the identity of the 
person making the misrepresentation"). (Morris v. BMW of N. Am., LLC (N.D.Cal. Nov. 7, 2007, 
No. C 07-02827 WHA) 2007 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 85513, at *14-15.)  
  
 Although less specificity is required in fraud by omission cases, Plaintiff has not alleged 
facts sufficient to state a cause of action. Plaintiff has not alleged facts showing actual reliance 
by Plaintiff.  “Because these claims do not involve affirmative misrepresentations, we conclude 
that actual reliance for the purpose of fraud by omission occurs only when the plaintiff reposes 
confidence in the material completeness of the defendant's representations, and acts upon this 
confidence.”  (Buckland v. Threshold Enterprises, Ltd. (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 798, 808 
[disapproved on other grounds in Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court (2011) 51 Cal.4th 310, 337].)  
   
 Here, Plaintiff alleges, “The facts concealed or not disclosed by Defendant are material 
in that a reasonable person would have considered them to be important in deciding whether or 
not to purchase/lease the Vehicle. Had Plaintiff known that the Vehicle and its transmission 
were defective at the time of sale, she would not have purchased the Vehicle.”  (SAC, ¶ 65.)  
Plaintiff has not alleged any representation by Ford on which she reposed confidence in 
purchasing the vehicle. Plaintiff has not alleged facts sufficient to show actual reliance.   
 
 Contrary to Defendant’s argument, Plaintiff has alleged sufficient facts showing 
Defendant had a duty to disclose the transmission defects. A manufacturer's duty to consumers 
is limited to its warranty obligations absent either an affirmative misrepresentation or a safety 
issue. (See Daugherty v. Am. Honda Motor Co., (2006) 144 Cal. App. 4th 824.)  Here, Plaintiff 
alleged the transmission defects affected safety of the vehicle and Ford had exclusive access to 
material facts.  (SAC ¶¶ 63, 18.)     
 
 “Generally, where one party to a transaction has sole knowledge or access to material 
facts and knows that such facts are not known or reasonably discoverable by the other party, 
then a duty to disclose exists.”  (Shapiro v. Sutherland (1998) 64 Cal.App.4th 1534, 1544.)    
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C. Economic Loss Rule 

 
 Defendant argues the claim is barred by the economic loss rule.  “The economic loss 
rule requires a purchaser to recover in contract for purely economic loss due to disappointed 
expectations, unless he can demonstrate harm above and beyond a broken contractual 
promise.”  Quite simply, the economic loss rule ‘prevent[s] the law of contract and the law of tort 
from dissolving one into the other.’” (Robinson Helicopter Co., Inc. v. Dana Corp. (2004) 34 
Cal.4th 979, 988. 
 
    Here, if Plaintiff could allege the fraud claim, the court believes Plaintiff may be able to 
establish tortious conduct independent of the breach of contract itself. However, the court has 
sustained the demurrer on other grounds and find it unnecessary to address this ground any 
further.     
   
Defendant’s Request for Judicial Notice ISO Demurrer 
 Defendant requests the court to take judicial notice of the following: 
1.  Exhibit A—Plaintiff’s Complaint, filed on June 14, 2017. 
2.  Exhibit B—Plaintiff’s FAC, filed on June 30, 2017. 
3.  Exhibit C—Plaintiff’s SAC, filed on September 25, 2017 
4.  Exhibit D—Vargas, et al. v. Ford Motor Company 
 
 The unopposed request is granted.  The court takes judicial notice of the existence of 
these documents. 
 
 
Plaintiff’s Request for Judicial Notice ISO Demurrer 
 Plaintiff also requests the court to take judicial notice of Vargas v. Ford Motor Company, 
but failed to attach the case. 
  
 
 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01128 
CASE NAME: SCOTT VS. FORD 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PUNITIVE DAMAGES FROM SECOND 
AMND CMPLNT FILED BY FORD MOTOR 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
  
           Defendant Ford Motor Company’s Motion to Strike Punitive Damages from Plaintiff’s 

Second Amended Complaint is granted with leave to amend. 

 Defendant seeks to strike punitive damages from the complaint, pursuant to CCP §§ 435 

and 436, on the ground the SAC fails to state facts to support recovery of punitive damages.   
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 Punitive damages are governed by Civil Code Section 3294, which specifically requires 

the Plaintiff to plead and prove by clear and convincing evidence that Defendant has been guilty 

of oppression, fraud, or malice.  In pleading punitive damages, a party must plead facts from 

which it can be reasonably inferred the defendant’s conduct met the requirements for punitive 

damages liability under Civil Code § 3294.  In addition to intentional tort, Plaintiff must also 

allege facts which show the circumstance of oppression, fraud or malice.  Grieves v. Superior 

Court (1985) 157 Cal. App.3d 159, 166.)    

 Here, Plaintiff’s 1st through 5th Causes of Action allege violation of the Song-Beverly 

Act, for which punitive damages are not recoverable.  (Civil Code § 1794.)  Under the Song-

Beverly Consumer Warranty Act, a plaintiff is permitted to recover actual damages plus a civil 

penalty of up to two times those actual damages if statutory violations are willful or if a 

manufacturer breaches an express warranty by refusing to make restitution after reasonable 

repair attempts fails. 

 Plaintiff’s Sixth Cause of Action alleges violation of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 

15 U.S.C. § 2301.  The Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act does not provide an independent basis 

for recovery of punitive damages.  (See Kelly v. Fleetwood (9th Cir. 92004.) 377 F.3d 1034.) 

 Here, in the 7th Cause of Action, Plaintiff alleges fraud by omission.  Plaintiff has not 

allege active concealment, but alleges “Defendant committed fraud by allowing the Vehicle to be 

sold to Plaintiff without disclosing that Vehicle and its DPS6 transmission was defective and 

susceptible to sudden and premature failure.”  (SAC, § 57.)   

 The court has sustained the demurrer to the 7th Cause of Action on the ground it is time-

barred and Plaintiff failed to allege the facts sufficient to state of cause of action as Plaintiff 

failed to allege actual reliance.  There is no other basis to support Plaintiff’s punitive damages 

claim.  The motion to strike is therefore granted with leave to amend. 

Plaintiff’s Request for Judicial Notice 

 Plaintiff requests the court to take judicial notice of the case, Susilo v. Wells Fargo Bank, 

NA, 796 F.Supp.3d 1177 (C.D. Cal.2011.)  Request is granted. 

 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01128 
CASE NAME: SCOTT VS. FORD 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 
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 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01134 
CASE NAME: JACKSON VS. TANKKA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PORTIONS OF FIRST AMENDED 
COMPLAINT FILED BY THOMAS TANKKA, IZZYA'S FROZEN ICE CREAM 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 Defendants’ Motion to Strike the Exemplary Damages Attachment and paragraph 

14.a.(2) of the First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) is granted, without leave to amend except 

pursuant to a motion under CCP § 473 after plaintiffs have taken the depositions of the 

defendants.  Defendants’ Motion to Strike the Third Cause of Action is granted without leave to 

amend.  However, the court considers defendants to be on notice that plaintiffs may seek to 

establish a duty of care or a breach in the duty of care on the basis of each and every statute 

currently cited in that cause of action.  Further, defendants must address those statutes to meet 

their initial burden on any motion for summary judgment or for summary adjudication of any 

negligence cause of action.  (Cf. Millard v. Biosources, Inc. (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 1338, 1353, 

n. 2.) 

1. Facts. 
 
This action arises out of a rear-end motor vehicle collision that occurred on northbound 

Interstate 680 in Walnut Creek on June 25, 2015.  The vehicle that caused the accident was an 
ice cream truck driven by defendant Tankka.  Defendant Tankka was employed by the 
defendant Izzy’s Frozen Ice Cream Custard and Treats, LLC, which also owned the truck. 

 
2. The motion to strike the allegations in support of punitive damages. 
 
Plaintiffs add an Exemplary Damages Attachment to their Judicial Council complaint.  It 

alleges that the accident occurred, in part, due to a brake failure.  “[T]he brakes of the . . . ice 
cream truck were in such disrepair that they demonstrated the vehicle was a clear and obvious 
danger to others on the roadway, and demonstrated a gross and conscious disregard by 
Defendants for the inspection and/or maintenance of the vehicle.”  This allegation is based on a 
statement by the officer at the scene that upon his inspection the brake petal “went straight to 
the floor” without resistance and on defendant Tankka’s alleged admission that he knew this 
before the collision.  Further, the brakes were in such disrepair that the truck continued to move 
forward after the initial impact and struck plaintiffs’ vehicle again.  The FAC also adds that 
defendants have not yet produced any documents in discovery showing when their 24 year-old 
truck had last been inspected before the accident; and, in response to defendants’ claim that the 
brake failure was sudden that, on information and belief, a brake failure would be preceded by 
signs such as “sponginess, sluggishness, or other abnormalities.”  Finally, the FAC alleges as 
evidence of defendant Tankka’s callous disregard for the safety of others that Tankka drove the 
truck from the scene of the accident despite knowing that his brakes had failed.   

 
While obviously Tankka had to engage his brakes at some time after leaving the scene 

to exit the freeway and get to his destination, the FAC does not allege that Tankka was involved 
in any further accidents that day. 
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Punitive damages are rarely recoverable in negligence actions.  As the California 
Supreme Court stated in Taylor v. Superior Court (1979) 24 Cal.3d 890, 899-900 “ordinarily, 
routine negligent or even reckless disobedience of traffic laws would not justify an award of 
punitive damages.”  The recoverability of punitive damages in negligence actions became even 
rarer after the Legislature  amended Civil Code section 3294 in 1987 to add a new requirement 
that the defendant’s conduct not only rise to the level of malice but that it also be despicable if it 
is not intentional.  (See CC § 3294 (c)(1) and College Hospital Inc. v. Superior Court (1994) 8 
Cal.4th 704, 725 (“’despicable’ conduct seems to represent a new substantive limitation on 
punitive damage awards.”)) 

 
The court in Taylor concluded that “the act of operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated 

may constitute an act of ‘malice’ under section 3294 if performed under circumstances which 
disclose a conscious disregard of the probable dangerous consequences.” (Taylor, supra, 24 
Cal.3d at 892.)  Whether Taylor would have been decided the same way after the change in the 
definition of “malice” in Civil Code section 3294 in 1987 is not entirely clear. 

 
The motion is granted on the terms stated above. 
 
3. The motion to strike the Third Cause of Action, Negligence Per Se. 

 
Negligence per se is not a separate cause of action.  (Johnson v. Honeywell Internat. 

Inc. (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 549, 555.)  The better view seems to be that a plaintiff need not 
even call out that theory as part of a cause of action for negligence.  (See Cragg v. Los Angeles 
Trust Co. (1980) 154 Cal. 663, 669-670; cf. Millard v. Biosources, Inc. (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 
1338, 1353 and n. 2 (implying that a plaintiff may suffer adverse consequences if he does not 
plead the statutory violation.)  Therefore, the court grants the motion to strike as to the Third 
Cause of Action on the terms stated above. 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01134 
CASE NAME: JACKSON VS. TANKKA 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 
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 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01368 
CASE NAME: CAUDEL VS BOOZE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR COMPEL DISCOVERY,DEEM FACTS ADMITTED 
FILED BY AMANDA CAUDEL 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear in person. Counsel will be given a room in which to meaningfully meet and confer to 
resolve this matter.  

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL17-04054 
CASE NAME: LVNV FUNDING VS LEMMONS 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR QUASH SERVICE OF SUMMONS & COMPLAINT 
FILED BY GREGORY LEMMONS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-1142 
CASE NAME: SAVE LAFAYETTE TREES VS CITY O 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended CIVIL PETITION of SAVE 
LAFAYETTE TREES FILED BY PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
  
Petitioners and Plaintiffs Save Lafayette Trees, Michael Dawson, and David Kosters 
(collectively, “Petitioners” or “Save Lafayette Trees”) petition for writ of mandate to direct 
Defendant City of Lafayette (the “City”) to vacate its approval for real party in interest Pacific 
Gas and Electric to remove trees pursuant to a Letter Agreement. Real party in interest Pacific 
Gas and Electric (“PG&E”) demurrers primarily on the grounds that Petitioners’ claims are time-
barred under Government Code § 65009(c)(1)(E) and (F) because the City of Lafayette and 
PG&E were not served within 90-days of the City’s decision to approve the Letter Agreement for 
Tree Removal. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

PG&E Requests Judicial Notice of Petitioners’ original Petition, amended Petition, a redlined 
version showing changes between the two, and the proofs of service of the original Petition. 
PG&E also requests Supplemental Judicial Notice of a federal district court decision as well as 
sections of the City of Lafayette’s Code of Ordinances. These Requests are unopposed. The 
Requests are granted. Evid. Code §§ 452, 453. 
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Factual and Procedural Background 

Petitioners filed their original “Verified Petition for Writ of Mandate and Complaint for Declaratory 
and Injunctive Relief and for Attorneys’ Fees” (the “Original Petition”) on June 26, 2017. RJN, 
Ex. A. On August 10, 2017 Petitioners filed a “First Amended Verified Petition for Writ of 
Mandate and Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief and for Attorneys’ Fees” (the 
“Amended Petition”). RJN, Ex. B.  

The Amended Petition alleges four causes of action for writ of mandate, declaratory and 
injunctive relief (1) to Set Aside Project Approval as Contrary to CEQA; (2) to Set Aside Project 
Approval as Contrary to Planning and Zoning Law; (3) to Set Aside City’s Approval of Tree 
Removal Agreement; and (4) to Set Aside Project Approval as Contrary to CCP §§ 108 and 
1094.5.  

Petitioners’ claims all derive from the City’s approval of a Letter Agreement for Tree Removal on 
March 27, 2017. In their Original Petition, Petitioners characterize this decision as a “permit … 
allowing the removal of trees.” RJN, Ex. A at ¶ 30. In the Amended Petition, Petitioners 
characterize this decision as an “approval[ ] allowing land use[.]” Amended Petition at ¶ 30. 

Petitioners filed their Original Petition on June 26, 2017. The City of Lafayette was served the 
next day on June 27, 2017. RJN, Ex. E. Real Party in Interest PG&E was served by substitute 
service on June 27, 2017; this service was deemed complete July 7, 2017. RJN, Ex. D; see also 
Code Civ. Proc. § 415.20. 

Analysis 

PG&E argues that the Petition is barred by Government Code § 65009; while the petition was 
timely filed 90-days after the City’s March 27, 2017 decision approving the tree removal, neither 
the City nor PG&E were served until afterwards. The statute requires both filing and service 
within 90 days after the legislative body’s decision. Gov. Code § 65009(c)(1). Petitioners 
contend that the 90-day bar of § 65009 does not apply because the March 27th decision falls 
outside the scope of actions covered by § 65009(c)(1)(E) and (F).  

“Section 65009 is located in division 1 (Planning and Zoning) of title 7 (Planning and Land Use) 
of the Government Code. It is intended ‘to provide certainty for property owners and local 
governments regarding decisions made pursuant to this division’ (§ 65009, subd. (a)(3)) and 
thus to alleviate the ‘chilling effect on the confidence with which property owners and local 
governments can proceed with projects’ (id., subd. (a)(2)) created by potential legal challenges 
to local planning and zoning decisions.’” Honig v. San Francisco Planning Dept. (2005) 127 
Cal.App.4th 520, 526 (internal citations omitted) (“Honig”). 

Section 65009 establishes a short statute of limitations, 90 days, applicable to actions 
challenging several types of local planning and zoning decisions: the adoption of a general or 
specific plan (id., subd. (c)(1)(A)); the adoption of a zoning ordinance (id., subd. (c)(1)(B)); the 
adoption of a regulation attached to a specific plan (id., subd. (c)(1)(C)); the adoption of a 
development agreement (id., subd. (c)(1)(D)); and the grant, denial, or imposition of conditions 
on a variance or permit (id., subd. (c)(1)(E)). Subdivision (e) of the statute provides that after 
expiration of the limitations period, “all persons are barred from any further action or 
proceeding.” 

Petitioners argue that subsection (c)(1)’s 90-day limitations period does not apply because the 
City Council’s approval of the Tree Removal Agreement is not an action specified by § 65901 or 
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§ 65903. Opp. at 6. Petitioners contend that “matters listed in Sections 65901 and 65903” 
language of subsection (c)(1)(E) limits the 90-limitations period to the express matters specified 
in §§ 65901 and 65903. Id. However, several courts have held that the 90-day limitation period 
applies “to a broad range of local zoning and planning decisions.” Citizens for Beach Rights v. 
City of San Diego (2017) 10 Cal.App.5th 1301, 1308 (“Citizens for Beach Rights”) (quoting 
Stockton Citizens for Sensible Planning v. City of Stockton (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 1484, 1491 
(“Stockton Citizens for Sensible Planning”)); see also Honig v. San Francisco Planning Dept. 
(2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 520, 526 (“Honig”). This includes “the grant, denial, or imposition of 
conditions on a variance or permit …” Travis v. County of Santa Cruz (2004) 22 Cal.4th 757, 
765. 

Government Code § 65009(c)(1)(E) is not limited to challenges concerning variances and 
permits issued after a decision by a legislative body. The legislature intended that the exercise 
of the powers set forth in Gov C §§ 65901 and 65903 by boards of zoning adjustment, zoning 
administrators, or boards of appeals constitute decisions by a legislative body within the 
meaning of Gov C § 65009(c)(1)(E). Stockton Citizens, supra (challenge to city’s community 
development department’s letter approving a retail project subject to 90-day bar of 
§ 65009(c)(1)(E)).  

Petitioners, relying on People v. Gates, propose a narrow interpretation of subsection (c)(1)(E) 
that expressly limits it to matters enumerated in §§ 65901 and 65903. See Opp. at 6 (relying on 
People v. Gates (1974) 41 Cal.App.3d 590, 598). Gates, however, involved an order of Santa 
Cruz County terminating a non-conforming use and was decided under the now-repealed 
Government Code § 65907. Furthermore, this interpretation ignores both the prefatory language 
of subsection (c)(1) of “the legislative body’s decision” as well as those cases which have 
broadly applied subsection (c)(1)(E). See Citizens for Beach Rights, supra (City’s decision that a 
site development permit remained valid subject to 90-day statute of limitations under 
§ 65009(c)); see also Stockton Citizens for Sensible Planning, supra (director’s approval of retail 
project, as zoning administrator, falls under subsection (c)(1)(E)); see also Honig, supra 
(Government Code § 65009 applies to a writ petition challenging issuance of a building permit 
issued in conjunction with a zoning variance, if the gravamen of the petition is that the variance 
was improperly granted). 

Even though the action was timely filed, failure to serve the petition within the 90-day period 
requires dismissal. Gov. Code § 65009(c)(1). By failing to meet the statutory deadline for 
service, Petitioners are barred from bringing their claims against the City of Lafayette and real 
party in interest PG&E. The Demurrer is sustained, without leave to amend. 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-1142 
CASE NAME: SAVE LAFAYETTE TREES VS CITY O 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE 1ST AMENDED PTN FOR WRIT OF 
MANDATE FILED BY PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Real party in interest Pacific Gas and Electric’s motion to strike Save Lafayette Trees’ 
Amended Petition is denied as moot. See line 11. 
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13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-1142 
CASE NAME: SAVE LAFAYETTE TREES VS CITY O 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR JOINDER IN MOTION TO STRIKE FIRST 
AMENDED PETITION FILED BY CITY OF LAFAYETTE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
  
Defendant City of Lafayette’s unopposed motion to join in Pacific Gas and Electric’s Motion to 
Strike is granted.  

 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-1142 
CASE NAME: SAVE LAFAYETTE TREES VS CITY O 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR JOINDER IN DEMURRER TO FIRST AMENDED 
PETITION FILED BY CITY OF LAFAYETTE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
  
Defendant City of Lafayette’s unopposed motion to join in Pacific Gas and Electric’s Demurrer to 
Save Lafayette Trees’ Amended Petition is granted.  

 

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-1142 
CASE NAME: SAVE LAFAYETTE TREES VS CITY O 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

  

16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-1728 
CASE NAME: RE 622 CIVIC CENTER STREET, RI 
HEARING ON PETITION AND DEC RE UNRESOLVED CLAIMS AND DEPOSIT ( 
FILED BY LENDER SERVICES, INC.) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear. 
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17.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-2008 
CASE NAME: WAHAB VS DMV 
HEARING ON PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDATE CCP1094.5 ( BY MUMINI 
WAHAB) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Appear with proof of service. 

  

18.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-2074 
CASE NAME: LEWIS VS JAFFREY 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR DETERMINATION OF GOOD FAITH SETTLEMENT 
FILED BY ADAM LEWIS 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Granted. No opposition. 

  

19.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-2178 
CASE NAME: GUTIERREZVS KELLY NORCAL HOME 
HEARING ON PETITION TO/FOR RELEASE OF PROPERY FROM LIEN FILED BY 
JENNIFER VERA GUTIERREZ 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 


